IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. 77,850 [District Court Case No. 90-2071]

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; and SANDRA GLENN and ROBERT ANDERSON, citizens and taxpayers of the State of Florida and respectively of Seminole County and Sarasota County, Florida,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

VS.

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT, an agency of the State of Florida; PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS OF FLORIDA, a labor organization; and the FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, a labor organization,

Defendant/Intervenors/Respondents.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To the extent that the Government suggests that the justices should defer to the Legislature's conclusion about an issue of constitutional law, the answer is that while the Court will not ignore it, it is the task of the justices in the end to decide whether the Legislature has violated the Constitution. 1

This litigation from the outset has involved and still involves as its primary focus, the construction of Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution - a unique constitutional provision (specifically concerning legislated increases in public employee retirement benefits). There appears to be nothing like it in any other state constitution.

Petitioners invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the decision below, under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii), Fla. R. App. P. There clearly are two grounds for the Court's discretionary jurisdiction. There also are substantial reasons for the Court to exercise that discretionary power to review the decision below.

^{1.} The bold text footnoted above paraphrases in a state judicial context the similar recent statement by the justices of the United States Supreme Court in Sable Communications of California, Inc. v. Federal Communications Commission et al., 109 S.Ct. 2829, 2838 (1989):

[&]quot;To the extent that the Government suggests that we should defer to Congress' conclusion about an issue of constitutional law, our answer is that while we do not igore it, it is our task in the end to decide whether Congress has violated the Constitution." [bold emphasis added.]

In the waning moments of the 1988 regular legislative session, the Florida Senate considered and passed an 11th-hour amendment of the bill which became the Act challenged in this litigation. Former State Senator Dempsey Barron (D - Panama City) ruled from the chair on a point of order on the constitutional question now before the judiciary. The point of order challenged the propriety of a vote on the amended bill in light of the language of Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution. Obviously, Senator Barron ruled that the point was not well taken. See *Journal of the Senate*, June 6, 1988, at 1083; Record below [R] at 191.

The "Government" here, by and through the Attorney General's office (as opposed to the defendant Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, whose staff has consistently opined that the challenged Act is unconstitutional), suggests that the courts should defer to the decision of the Legislature. Indeed, as noted herein, both the trial judge and the appellate court below, have expressly deferred to the "prerogative" of the Legislature on this matter.

ARGUMENT

The Subject Constitutional Provision

In 1976, the voters of Florida adopted what is now Article X, Section 14, of the Florida Constitution. That provision reads:

SECTION 14. State retirement systems benefit changes. - A governmental unit responsible for any retirement or pension system supported in whole or in part by public funds shall not after January 1, 1977, provide any increase in the benefits to the members or beneficiaries of such system unless such unit has made or concurrently makes provision for the funding of the increase in benefits on a *sound* actuarial basis.

[Bold emphasis in original; italics added.]

Petitoners ask this Court to allow them to present to this Court, on the merits, why and how Article X, Section 14, properly construed (according to petitioners) operates to invalidate the particular Florida Retirement System benefit changes provided by the 1988 Legislature by and through Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida. Petitioners assert that the "basis" for funding benefit increases must be "sound" both substantively and procedurally.

"Who" pays "how much" and "when" are important additional questions to the substantive question of whether a particular funding formula will eventually produce enough money to pay the cost of the benefits change. Further, all such questions should be asked and at least discussed *before* the vote on final passage, not after.²

In light of Article X, Section 14, both the legislative *process* followed here by the 1988 Legislature³ and its questioned product,⁴ deserve the scrutiny of the highest court of this state.

^{2.} Given the manner of passage of the final amended version of the bill, these questions obviously never were discussed in any legislative committee prior to final passage.

^{3.} The 11th-hour amendment of the bill came in the face of Article X, Section 14. The district court also alluded to the "lack of actuarial input concerning the final version as enacted." See e.g., TAB 1 at 7.

^{4.} The technical defects on the face of the bill are conceded by all. They had to be corrected in the next legislative session.

The Decision Below

This Court clearly has the power to review the decision below as within the Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

The decision below [conformed copy in APPENDIX] speaks for itself in "expressly" construing Article X, Section 14, of the Florida Constitution. Additionally, based upon that construction, the decision below also clearly and "expressly" declares and upholds the validity of the challenged Act [Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida].

Thus, two avenues for the exercise of the power of discretionary review exist here.⁵

Substantial Reasons Exist Why This Court Should Review the Decision Below

As expressly noted by the district court in its decision:

. . . few courts have addressed Article X, Section 14, and we find no opinion which has definitively considered the meaning of the phrase "sound actuarial basis." [TAB 1 at 3-4.]

While the district court concluded that the trial judge had acted "properly" when he "deferred to the policy choices of the coordinate legislative branch" - it also acknowledged without quarreling with the determination, that the trial judge had so acted after having determined that the unorthodox funding method adopted by the 1988 Legislature did constitute a provision for funding on "an unwise and imprudent basis."

Petitioners submit that it is the job of the courts, not the legislature, to construe the constitution, and that both of the lower courts erred when they deferred to the legislature's determination of the constitutionality of Chapter 88-238, Laws of

^{5.} Both of the referenced divisions (i) and (ii) of Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A), Fla. R. App. P., draw from the language in Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Constitution of Florida.

^{6.} See TAB 1 at 8 (emphasis added).

Florida. Article X, Section 14 exists as part of the Florida Constitution for just such a reason: to serve as a constraint on the legislature in its enactment of retirement benefit changes.

Because the stakes are so high here, not only in dollar amounts (involving hundreds of millions of dollars in public funds), but also in terms of the precedential value of the decision here,⁷ Petitioners respectfully submit that this Court should exercise its power to review the decision below, including the judicial deference to the legislative branch as announced by both of the lower courts.⁸

CONCLUSION

The decision below quite clearly "expressly" construes Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution. Such construction also is the critical factor in the decision below in "expressly" upholding the validity of the 1988 Act challenged in this litigation by the petitioners.

Obviously, petitioners assert that both of the lower courts erred in the construction given to this unique constitutional provision in deference to the legislative branch. Both courts, it is respectfully submitted, have erroneously allowed the prerogative of the 1988 Legislature, in particular, to carry over into the arena (construction of the constitution) reserved to the courts.

^{7.} Petitioners submit that this decision is critical to the future of the state's public retirement systems and to all of the people of the State of Florida (including both the beneficiaries of the retirement systems and the taxpayers who must foot the bill for future benefit changes). The financial future of Florida's cities and counties also is directly affected. All 67 Florida counties are compulsory members of the FRS; so, each must contribute to the FRS as decreed by the legislature (even if at its 10-mill cap).

^{8.} As former Justice Arthur England and his co-authors noted in their law review article on Constitutional Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida: 1980 Reform, 32 U. Fla. L. Rev. 147, 185 (1980):

By reclassifying review of constitutional constructions as discretionary, the need for any discussion of substantiality has been wholly eliminated. The court, however, can certainly consider the insubstantiality of the issue as a basis to exercise its discretion to deny a request to review a constitutional construction.

As to the particular legislative increases in public employee retirement benefits provided by Chapter 88-238, both lower courts recognized that the challenged Act funded the cost of the package of increased benefits on an "unwise and imprudent basis." Neither lower court, however, equated the manner in which the 1988 Legislature provided an altered basis for funding, with funding on an "unsound" basis in the constitutional sense.

Because of the funding approach used in Chapter 88-238, the full and significant implications for taxpayers of the Act and of such judicial deference to it, will not be realized until 1993 and thereafter. Both the integrity of the funding of the Florida Retirement System, and the future construction of the constitutional constraints on the process by which the FRS is funded, are very much at stake here.

Such circumstances warrant the exercise by this Court of its discretionary jurisdiction and its review of the decision below.