IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 77,850

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; and SANDRA GLENN and ROBERT ANDERSON, citizens and taxpayers of the State of Florida and respectively of Seminole County and Sarasota County, Florida,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT, an agency of the State of Florida; PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS OF FLORIDA, a labor organization; and FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, a labor organization,

Defendants/Interveners/Respondents.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1988-1989, the Florida Legislature amended the Florida Retirement System to provide that the service credit for special risk service (certain police officers, correction officers, and fire fighters) is:

- "3. Two percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after September 30, 1978, and before January 1, 1989;
- 4. Two and two-tenths percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after December 31, 1988, and before January 1, 1990;
- 5. Two and four-tenths percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after December 31, 1989, and before January 1, 1991;
- 6. Two and six-tenths percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after December 31, 1990, and before January 1, 1992;
- 7. Two and eight-tenths percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after December 31, 1991, and before January 1, 1993; and
- 8. Three percent of his average monthly compensation for all creditable years after December 31, 1992;

§121.091(1)(a)3-8, Fla. Stat. (1989).

This amendment restored the three percent service credit that existed prior to 1978.

At the same time it provided for this increase the Legislature provided for its funding by amending §121.071(1), Fla. Stat. (1989) by requiring employers covered by the Florida Retirement System to increase contributions over the same five-year period of time, as follows:

"The act provides for a phase-in of contributions and benefits over a five-year period as follows:

	% Increase in
Period	Contributions ³
1989	1.6
1990	3.2
1991	4.8
1992	6.4
1993+	8.0

Florida Association of Counties, Inc. v. Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, 16 F.L.W. 932 (Fla. 1st DCA March 29, 1991).

The Florida Association of Counties and the Florida League of Cities and two taxpayers filed suit against the Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, seeking a declaratory decree that this increase in service credit for special risk members was facially invalid in that it violated Art X, §14 of the Florida Constitution, which provides:

"SECTION 14. State retirement systems benefit changes. - A governmental unit responsible for any retirement or pension system supported in whole or in part by public funds shall not after January 1, 1977, provide any increase in the benefits to the members or beneficiaries of such system unless such unit has made or concurrently makes provision for the funding of the increase in benefits on a sound actuarial basis." [bold emphasis in title in original]

The Professional Fire Fighters of Florida, the fire fighters' union, and the Florida Police Benevolent Association, the police officers' union, intervened on behalf of the Defendant.

In the proceedings below, the Petitioners stated that they did not challenge "whether or not funds will eventually be generated by the funding provisions of the Act to pay the costs of these benefits". Rather, they stated that their challenge "concerns only the manner in which the Act provided for the funding of the cost of those increased benefits..." (Appellants' brief 1).

At the hearing before Circuit Judge J. Lewis Hall, a number of witnesses testified, including five actuaries.

There was no agreement among the actuaries as to the meaning of the phrase "sound actuarial basis". The trial court accepted a concensus definition and held that "sound actuarial basis" means that "a retirement program must be funded in such a way that the retirement fund is able to meet its continuing obligations as and when they mature." (Appendix 3).

At the hearing, a state pension actuary, Mr. Slavin, testified that this method of funding did provide enough money and that the contribution formula was sufficient to pay the benefits. (TR. 303-304).

Another witness, Lawrence Mitchell, a consulting actuary, testified that the benefit increase in Chapter 88-238 was funded on a sound actuarial basis. (TR. 432-434, 437, 438, 440-444, 445).

Another consulting actuary, Richard Daskas, testified to the same effect. (TR. 492-493).

Following the hearing and having heard the testimony, the Circuit Judge found that the benefit increase to special risk members contained in Chapter 88-238 was funded on a sound actuarial basis and was, therefore, constitutionally valid.

The Plaintiffs appealed to the First District Court of Appeal which unanimously affirmed. They now seek discretionary review of the District Court of Appeal's decision on the ground that it directly passes upon the constitutional validity of a Florida Statute.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Art. V, §(3)(b)3, Fla. Const., the Supreme Court <u>may</u> review any decision of a District Court of Appeal that expressly declares valid a state statute. This is discretionary review. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2) is entitled "Discretionary Jurisdiction". It provides that discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court may be sought to review decisions of District Courts of Appeal that expressly declare valid a state statute.

This should be contrasted with the appeal jurisdiction of the Supreme Court under Art. V, §(3)(b)1, Fla. Const., which is implemented by Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1) to provide that the Supreme Court shall review by appeal decisions of District Courts of Appeal declaring invalid a state statute.

The people of Florida in drafting their Constitution this way, distinguished between the jurisdiction of this Court to review the decisions of a District Court of Appeal holding a state statute to be valid or invalid. If the District Court of appeal held that the statute was invalid, then this Court has mandatory jurisdiction. Such a decision of a regional District Court of Appeal invalidating an act of the Legislature is subject to review by the state-wide jurisdiction of this Court. However, when the regional District Court of Appeal holds that an act of the Legislature is valid, then it is not mandated by the Constitution that this Court exercise its state-wide jurisdiction to review such a decision. The question then becomes whether the Petitioners have demonstrated any ground upon which this Court should exercise its discretion to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal.

One such reason could be that the decision of the District Court of Appeal is clearly erroneous. However, in that regard, the Petitioners fail. Art. X, §14 of the Florida Constitution provides that the Legislature must perform an act--it must do something--in connection with the adoption of a law increasing pension benefits. The question whether the Legislature performed that act is a question of fact, not a question of law. The question of fact is a complex one. The words of the Constitution which require that the Legislature provide for funding of increases in pension benefits on a sound actuarial basis are not words of ordinary understanding or of ordinary meaning. This requires expert actuarial testimony. The trial court had before it the live testimony of various and numerous experts on this point. It was the function of the trial court to resolve such conflicts. Having done so, the question on appeal to the District Court of Appeal was whether there was evidence to support the trial judge's finding of fact that the Legislature had funded this pension increase on a sound actuarial basis. As there was such evidence, the decision of the District Court of Appeal is eminently correct.

Another possibility for this Court to exercise its discretion in such a case might exist when the Circuit Court had found that an act was invalid and on appeal the District Court of Appeal reversed and held that the act of the Legislature was valid. Based on such a dispute between the trial judge and the District Court of Appeal an argument could be made that this Court ought to exercise its discretion in such a case to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal. However, in the present case, there was no such division of opinion. The trial court held that the act was valid and the District Court of Appeal affirmed.

This court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in the present case. The Petitioners have presented no reason for this Court to invoke it, other than they would like to have another appeal.

POINT INVOLVED

THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HOLDING A STATE STATUTE TO BE VALID WHEN:

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AFFIRMS THE TRIAL COURT'S HOLDING THE STATUTE TO BE VALID AS THERE WAS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDING OF FACT THAT THE LEGISLATURE HAD PROVIDED FOR THE FUNDING OF THE PENSION INCREASE INVOLVED ON A SOUND ACTUARIAL BASIS.

The people of Florida, in framing Art. V, could have given the Supreme Court mandatory jurisdiction whenever the District Court passes on the constitutional validity of a state statute without regard to whether the District Court held the statute to be valid or invalid. However, the people of Florida did not write their Constitution that way. Instead, the people distinguished between those cases in which the District Court of Appeal held the statute to be invalid and those in which the District Court of Appeal held the statute to be valid. When the statute is declared invalid, this Court has mandatory jurisdiction. When the District Court holds the statute to be valid, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction. The people did not consider it necessary to their ordered scheme of liberty that the court of last resort should be required to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal which held an act of the Legislature to be constitutionally valid.

Plainly, then, the Petitioners have the burden of showing a compelling reason why this Court should exercise its discretion to take jurisdiction in this case, notwithstanding that the trial court found that the statute was valid and that the District Court of Appeal affirmed.

For example, this Court might exercise its jurisdiction if the Petitioners could demonstrate that the decision below was clearly However, Petitioners admit that the statute which they erroneous. challenge provides for the funding of the increase in the pension benefits. They do not dispute that the statute provides for enough money to accomplish its purpose. Rather, they challenge the manner by which the Legislature provided for the funding. The Petitioners concede that Art. X, §14 of the Florida Constitution is unique among the states in that it requires that the Legislature perform an act at the time that it increases pension benefits to employees covered by the Florida Retirement System. Constitution requires that the Legislature provide for the funding of such increase on a sound actuarial basis. The question whether this act was performed by the Legislature is a complex question of fact. Constitutional requirement that the Legislature provide for funding on a sound actuarial basis involves words which are not words of ordinary understanding. Indeed, the decision of the trial court and the opinion of the District Court of Appeal in affirmance point out that the expert witnesses disagreed as to what is the meaning of these words. Even though the actuaries were unable to agree how to define these terms, the trial court concluded that funding on a sound actuarial basis meant that "a retirement fund must be funded in such a way that the retirement fund is able to meet its continuing obligations as and when they mature." (Appendix 3).

The Petitioners do not dispute that the Legislature's method of funding accomplishes such an objective. Instead, the Petitioners argue:

"In light of Article X, Section 14, both the legislative process followed here by the 1988 Legislature³ and its questioned product,⁴ deserve the scrutiny of the highest court of this state." (Petitioner's brief 4) (emphasis added)

They offer no authority, and surely there is none, by which this Court should scrutinize the legislative process along with the enactment.

Lastly, on page 6 of their brief the Petitioners argue that this Court should exercise its jurisdiction because the statute which the trial court and the Court of Appeal both determined to be constitutionally valid involves "hundreds of millions of dollars in public funds." Again they offer no authority for the proposition that that is a ground for this Court to exercise its discretionary review.

The people of Florida did not write their Constitution so that if a case involved a challenge to the constitutional validity of an act of the Legislature, the case should begin in the Florida Supreme Court, thereby dispensing with the proceedings in the Circuit Court and the District Court altogether. The people wrote their Constitution the way it reads because the people were of the view that when the District Court of Appeal held that the challenged act was valid, that was adequate review by the judicial branch of the government. For such a decision to be reviewed by this Court requires something more than the argument of the Petitioner that the statute involves a lot of money. Florida is a large state with a large population and a large budget, and most of the acts of the Legislature involve a lot of money.

Obviously the Professional Fire Fighters of Florida are of the view that the increase from 2% over 3% in the service credit for special risk members in which both the contributions and the benefits are phased in over a five-year period is constitutionally valid. This is another way of saying that they believe that the decisions of the Circuit Court and of the

District Court of Appeal in this regard are correct. The Petitioners present no compelling reason why this Court should review the decision of the District Court of Appeal holding this act of the Florida Legislature to be valid.

CONCLUSION

The request by the Petitioners that this Court invoke its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in this case should be denied.

RICHARD A. SICKING Attorney for Respondent/Intervener, Professional Fire Fighters of Florida 2700 S. W. Third Avenue #1E Miami, Florida 33129 Telephone (305) 858-9181 Florida Bar No. 073747

a